IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Court					
Complainant.	Case NO.: SC02-111					
v.						
JEANETTE ELIZABETH SMITH,						
Respondent.						
/						

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

RICHARD B. MARX RICHARD B. MARX & ASSOCIATES Attorney for Respondent

66 West Flagler Street Second Floor Miami, Florida 33130 (305)579-9060 Fax (305) 377-0503

Florida Bar No.: 051075

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This court granted Respondent extensions of time to file her initial brief on two occasions, with the last extension affording Respondent until March 31, 2003. On March 21, 2003 Respondent filed a third motion for extension of time, and sought an order compelling the court reporter to complete the transcription of the trial transcript forthwith.

On March 25, 2003 the Bar filed its Opposition to Respondent's Third Motion for Extension of Time. In as much as Respondent's petition for review was in jeopardy of being dismissed, Respondent elected to file the initial brief on March 28, 2003, without the trial transcript, and requested this Court to permit her to supplement the initial brief once the trial transcript was obtained.

The trial transcript was received March 28, 2003 after 5:00 p.m., after the Initial Brief was submitted. The initial brief was submitted without the benefit of a trial transcript, and Respondent would respectfully request that

she be permitted to amend the initial brief to allow for the filing of the trial transcript and proper reference to the record.

There is no prejudice to the Bar in as much as it has not filed an answer brief and in fact has filed a motion to dismiss Respondent's initial brief and has requested this Court to toll the time to file its answer brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 15, 2002 The Florida Bar filed a three-count complaint based upon complaints from clients Aslam and Qamar Munim (Count I), Liasse Kebbab (Count II), and Nationwide Collection Service (Count III). The final hearing took place September 17, 19 and 20, 2002. At the final hearing, The Florida Bar called two witnesses: Aslam Munim and Liasse Kebbab (the complainants as to Counts I and II). The Bar utilized the affidavit of Staff Auditor for The Florida Bar, Carlos Ruga. Respondent called five witnesses: Jeanette Hausler, Dean of Students at the University of Miami School of Law, Dian Osborn, Norberth Clark, Jubalani Tafari, and Nelson Ramirez.

(Count I)

On or about March 4, 1996 Aslam and Qamar Munim (hereinafter referred to as the "Munims") retained the services of Respondent to represent them in an immigration matter involving a labor certification process. The complaint alleges that the Munims "received little or no communication from Respondent until January 13, 2000..." (See paragraph 6 of the Bar Complaint); that they requested a refund of the filing fee and Respondent refused. This required the Munims to borrow money in order to

complete the immigration process (paragraphs 10, 11, 16). Additionally, Respondent only partially complied with the Bar's subpoena. Based upon these allegations the Bar charged the Respondent with violating the following Rules:

- 3-4.3 (misconduct);
- 4-1.1 (competence);
- 4-1.3 (diligence);
- 4-1.4(a) (communication);
- 4-1.15(a) (client's and third party funds to be held in trust);
- 4-8.4(a) (a lawyer shall not violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct);
- 4-8.4(b) (a lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects);
- 4-8.4(c) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation) of the Rules of Professional Conduct; and
- 5-1.1(a) (nature of Money or property entrusted to attorney) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.

The Munims met Respondent in January 1996 and hired her to represent them for the labor certification and residency. TT 29. She charged a fee of \$4,500, paid over four installments. TT 29-30. The last installment was paid November 1999. The filing fee was \$1,665 which was paid in December 1999, and Respondent advised her clients that the package containing the documents was mailed to INS in January 2000. TT31-32. In November 1999 Respondent requested another payment of the \$1,665.00 for the specific purpose of "residency filing fees" which are required with

the submission of the labor certification packet. This is the fourth step in the process. The Munims paid this November 29, 1999. Respondent deposited the check in her operating account rather than her trust account on December 1, 1999. TT 176. Respondent completed the work and gave it to her secretary for mailing. Her secretary at the time was her sister who had not been working there very long. TT 145. The Munims requested proof of the filing, which Respondent was unable to provide. ROR at 5. Respondent contacted the Munims in May 2000 and informed them they would have to repay the entire filing fee and resubmit all documents. ROR at 5. The Munims requested a refund of the \$1,665.00 filing fee by letters dated June 12 and 23, 2000 in order to complete the labor certification process on their own. Although the Referee's report states that the Munims incurred costs of \$2,997.00, (ROR at 5) there was no direct testimony by Mr. Munim as to this amount. (TT 32-34). When the Munims did not receive the refund, they filed a complaint with The Florida Bar. TT 32. Respondent refunded the \$1,665.00 in October 2000. ROR at 5.

Several problems occurred with tracking down the package with INS and in May 2000 Respondent advised the Munims that she was trying to track down the filing fee check issued to the INS. TT 32. Mr. Munim testified that he did not know whether or not Respondent filed the residency

package. TT 36. In this process an alien gains his or her permanent residency via employment since the alien is able to do a job that no United States worker is currently available to perform. ROR at 3. The first three steps took two and a half years to complete and the Munims were completely satisfied with the work and the communication with Respondent. TT 37-38. Respondent provided detailed billing statements, which comprised 37 pages, outlining everything done in the process. TT 39-42. It was only in the fourth step of the process that the problems arose. TT 37-39. This was precisely during the period of time when Respondent became ill, which illness began to interfere with her ability to practice law. TT 145-146, 163-171.

During the period of time involving the complaint regarding the Munims' residency package with the INS (November 1999 to May 2000), the Respondent was ill, however, the Munims did have communication with Respondent's office. TT 32.

(Count II)

On or about October 2000 Liasse Kebbab hired Respondent to represent him in an immigration matter. He needed to change his immigration status due to a recent marriage to an American citizen. The Bar charged that Respondent failed to communicate with Kebbab and neglected

his case and that as a result of that conduct she violated the the following Rules:

- 3-4.3 (misconduct);
- 4-1.1 (competence);
- 4-1.3 (diligence);
- 4-1.4(a) (communication);
- 4-1.15(a) (client's and third party funds to be held in trust);
- 4-8.4(a) (a lawyer shall not violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct);
- 4-8.4(b) (a lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects fraud, deceit or misrepresentation) of the Rule of Professional Conduct.

Kebbab met Respondent sometime in 1995-1996 when he hired her to do immigration work for him. TT 46. He had retained Respondent for immigration work on two or three prior occasions. TT 46. The last time he hired Respondent was to remove the conditions on his residency status. He wanted to become a permanent resident and his status was due to expire December 30, 2000. TT 47. Kebbab testified that he had trouble communicating with Respondent and she had "disappeared" for 5 months, but he also testified that he was in touch with her office, and her brother did advise him as to the status of his case. 47-48. Although the Referee stated in her report that Respondent did not communicate with Kebbab for 12 months ROR at 7, his trial testimony stated that it was five months. TT 48.

Respondent explained that the delay in filing Kebbab's change of status papers was in part due to her health problems and in part due to the

fact that she questioned the validity of Kebbab's marriage to an American citizen. Respondent became suspicious of the marriage when she learned that they were not living together and she feared that submitting the application to INS for permanent residency based on a marriage to an American citizen would be fraudulent. TT 61-63. Respondent had a great deal of difficulty communicating with the wife (TT 89), and she also suspected that the wife's signature might be forged. TT 63-64. Additionally, Respondent received a message from the wife that she did not wish to go forward with the immigration papers and that she was seeking a divorce. TT 88. Mr. Kebbab knew that if it was determined that his marriage was a sham he would be violating the law. TT 66. Respondent testified that according to INS form I-751, if a couple is separated they cannot file a petition jointly for permanent residency. TT 90.

Respondent completed Kebbab's case successfully and obtained his green card. TT 67. Kebbab testified that Respondent was a "good lawyer", and even inquired about retaining her for additional services in obtaining his U.S. citizenship, even after he filed the Bar complaint. TT 66. Kebbab stated that, "Jeanette Smith is a very good lawyer. I never have no problem whatsoever with Jeanette Smith until like maybe the last year. I know she lost a baby, she have a lot of problems....it was not that Jeanette Smith is a

crooked lawyer or whatever. Jeanette Smith is a good lawyer. She knows what she's doing when she goes to INS. She knows how to file paper and everything." TT 66.

The parties met on July 27 and 29, 2001 to discuss these issues, and the following week Respondent went to INS to search for his application in the system. Immigration provided her a letter evidencing that his application was in the system. Respondent gave him the letter and he was able to travel to France to attend his sister's wedding. TT 93. Respondent later got another letter from Immigration stating that Kebbab's application did not exist in the system, and when she called Kebbab, he advised her that he had already received his green card and that everything was fine. TT 93. This is indicative of the problems inherent in working with Immigration, and their propensity for losing files, and it also lends credibility to Respondent's assertions as to Count I that she did in fact submit the Munims residency package to INS..

(Count III)

On or about August 10, 2000 Respondent issued a check for \$100.00 to pay a bill for her answering service. The check was returned for insufficient funds. Although, respondent ultimately paid the \$100.00, Nationwide, a collection agency, demand payment of \$212.50. ROR at 8

and 9. The Bar charged that during this period of time, Respondent was financially irresponsible, and therefore violated Rule 4-8.4(c).

The Referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of each and every rule violation. ROR at 11-12.

As to this count, the report of Grievance Committee investigator,

Bryan Faulman, was introduced into evidence as part of the Bar's exhibits

and his statement was read into the record, to wit:

With the above being stated, it is my opinion that Ms. Smith did make the good faith effort to make good on the check once it was brought to her attention from NationWide Credit. I further believe that she made an attempt to resolve this in a professional manner but was unable to do so due to Mr. Berger's difficult disposition. I base this opinion on my experience with Mr. Berger in researching this case during which time I was treated very unprofessionally and was often offended by verbal abuse and inappropriate language. The behavior only made my investigation more difficult and time consuming. TT 226.

The events leading up to these complaints took place between 1999 and 2001. The thread that runs through all of the complaints was that she was overwhelmed in her law practice due to a combination of severe medical problems. ROR at 9. She also had a lack of support staff. TT 145-146.

Respondent suffered from several medical problems beginning in the late summer and fall of 1999. Due to low blood pressure, dehydration, and exhaustion, she eventually collapsed and required emergency treatment consisting of IV fluids for several weeks at a time in March and in August

2000. She also required continued bed rest. Respondent became progressively weaker and disoriented and in December 2000 she suffered another medical crisis due to a pregnancy. After being taken to the emergency room in extreme pain, the doctors determined the fetus she was carrying was dead, and probably had been for weeks. She was given medication to induce labor so as to avoid a surgical abortion, but she subsequently hemorrhaged and underwent an emergency procedure in January 2001. ROR at 6.

The Bar has acknowledged throughout the trial that Respondent was sick, that her illness was genuine and that the court ought to take it into consideration. TT 250.

The Referee found the following mitigating factors set forth in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions:

- Absence of a dishonest or selfish motive. (Standard 9.32(b)).
 The Referee found that Respondent was not financially motivated. ROR 14.
- 2. Good character and reputation. (Standard 9.32 (g)). Dean Hausler praised respondent for her commitment to "the downtrodden" in our society, and described her as "not interested in making money". ROR at 2. Dian Osborn,

Norberth Clark, and Jubalani Tafari testified to respondent's "selfless dedication to helping the indigent and vulnerable, as well as to her integrity." ROR at 3.

- 3. Physical or mental disability or impairment (Standard 9.32 (h)).

 Respondent has suffered significant medical problems during the period of time spanning the complaints. ROR at 14.
- 4. Interim Rehabilitation. (Standard 9.32 (i)). Respondent has taken the following remedial measures:
 - a. She has offered to refund the Munims for the last part of the certification process, although there was never an issue as to restitution as framed by the complaint.
 - b. She voluntarily attended (again) the professionalism Seminar required for new lawyers.
 - c. She has contacted LOMAS.
 - d. She has contacted Florida Lawyers Assistance for a referral to a group for therapy in dealing with stress.
 - e. She monitors her blood pressure bi-weekly to minimize any relapse of her original health problems.
- 1. Remorse. (Standard 9.32 (l)). Throughout her testimony Respondent seemed genuinely sorry that her actions(or lack of action) hurt her clients. TT 178, ROR at 10.

The Referee found the following aggravating factors as set forth in the

Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions:

- 1. Pattern of misconduct (Standard 9.22 (c)).
- 2. Multiple offenses (Standard 9.22 (d)).

The Referee recommended the following discipline:

1. That Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of two years, followed by two years probation.

- 2. During her probationary period Respondent should obtain the services of LOMAS and her account should be subject to quarterly audits.
- 3. She should be required to certify her good health/fitness to practice quarterly with documentation by her physician.
- 4. She should obtain a mentor attorney (or one should be appointed for her) to monitor her caseload and disposition of cases quarterly.
- 5. She should pay restitution to the Munims in the amount of \$2,997. ROR at 12.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee's recommendations as to discipline does not have any reasonable basis in existing case law nor in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. This is not a case of misappropriation of client trust funds, but rather a case of client neglect as a result of serious and tragic medical problems experienced by Respondent. There has been no clear and convincing evidence that Respondent misappropriated client trust funds. The cases relied upon by the Referee to arrive at her recommended discipline all deal with misappropriation of client trust funds and are inapplicable to the case at bar. The Referee's findings of pattern of misconduct and multiple offenses as aggravating factors are not supported by the evidence, and the compelling mitigating factors presented were not given proper consideration according to the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

ARGUMENT THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION AS TO DISCIPLINE DOES NOT HAVE ANY REASONABLE BASIS IN EXISTING

CASE LAW NOR IN THE FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS

In arriving at the recommended discipline, the Referee relied on the cases of The Florida Bar v Farbstein, 570 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1990); The Florida Bar v. Schiller, 537 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v Kassier, 711 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1998); and The Florida Bar v Tunsil, 503 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 1986). ROR at 13. The Referee's reliance on these cases is misplaced. These cases all deal with misappropriation of client funds from trust accounts. There are no allegations in the four corners of the complaint, nor was any proof presented at the final hearing that Respondent misappropriated client funds from her trust account.

The Florida Bar v Farbstein, 570 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1990) involved misappropriation of client trust funds, failure to comply with trust accounting procedures, neglect of legal matters, and failure to adequately communicate with clients. An audit of Farbstein's trust account revealed shortages of \$21,128.62 in May 30, 1988 and \$13,143.44 in August 30, 1988. Farbstein was found to have misappropriated client funds from his trust account and was given a three suspension. Clearly, in the case at bar Respondent was not found guilty of misappropriation of client funds, and therefore the Farbstein case lends little guidance as to the discipline to be imposed. Additionally, the instant case did not involve trust account. The

issue involving the \$100.00 check (Count III) which was made good shortly thereafter, involved Respondent's operating account.

The Florida Bar v. Schiller, 537 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1992) involved misappropriation of client trust funds in the amount of \$29,000.00. Schiller was found guilty of misappropriation of client trust funds and given a three-year suspension.

The Florida Bar v. Kassier, 711 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1998) involved misappropriation of client trust funds, issuance of NSF trust account checks, failure to keep clients reasonably informed, failure to act with diligence and failure to respond to The Florida. Kassier was found guilty of misappropriation of client trust funds and given a one-year suspension followed by three-years probation.

The Florida Bar v Tunsil, 503 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 1986) involved the misappropriation of \$10,5000.00 held in trust for a guardianship. Tunsil was found guilty of misappropriation of client funds and failure to comply with trust accounting procedures and given a one-year suspension followed by two years probation.

This case did not involve misappropriation of client funds. Although the Bar might argue that had Respondent deposited the funds for the Munims' filing fee in her trust account there would have been a

misappropriation of client trust funds, that issue was not raised nor argued at trial and to argue it now would be pure speculation. Additionally, this issue can not be raised for the first time on appeal. Respondent has acknowledged that mistakes were made in the way she handled the Munims' filing fee, and she did in fact refund the \$1,665 filing. The cases relied upon do not support the discipline imposed in this case. The issue involving the \$100 check (Count III) which was made good shortly after it was issued, dealt with Smith's operating account and had nothing to do with client trust funds.

It appears that the Referee considered the fact that the discipline in the above cited cases ranged from one to three-year suspensions and went down the middle and fashioned a two year suspension for Respondent without any meaningful analysis of Respondent's actual misconduct or the mitigating factors. The Referee acknowledged that the above cases were about "misconduct involving misappropriation of funds and diligence issues", but no where in the Report is there a finding that Respondent misappropriated client trust funds. The Referee commences her analysis by stating that, "disbarment is generally imposed when there has been a misappropriation of funds..." ROR 12. Based on Respondent's conduct, the Bar's complaint, and the testimony at trial, disbarment was never a consideration and Bar counsel never sought disbarment. Bar counsel made it clear to the court that

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