IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case No. SC02-111

Complainant,

v.

JEANETTE ELIZABETH SMITH,

Respondent.

The Florida Bar File Nos. 2001-70,069(11C), 2001-71,345(11C) & 2001-70,576(11C)

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

CARLOS ALBERTO LEÓN

Bar Counsel TFB #0098027 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS

Staff Counsel TFB #0253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.

Executive Director TFB #123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has consistently held that a referee's findings of fact carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld if supported by substantial, competent evidence and in the case at bar, the referee's findings are amply supported by competent, substantial evidence. Moreover, as will be apparent, Respondent's arguments have no merit as they are not well-grounded in either law or fact and thus this Court should decline to substitute its own judgment for that of the referee. Additionally, the evidence adduced at trial amply supports a finding of guilt. Finally, the referee's recommended discipline is supported both by the standards for imposing lawyer discipline and by the existing case law.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION AS TO DISCIPLINE CARRIES A PRESUMPTION OF CORRECTNESS THAT SHOULD BE UPHELD AS IT IS SUPPORTED BY BOTH CASE LAW AND THE FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS.

This Court has consistently held that bar disciplinary proceedings must serve three purposes: first, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer; second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation; and third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. *See, The Florida Bar v. Niles*, 644 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 1994), *The Florida Bar v. Lord*, 433 So.2d 983, 986 (Fla.1983); *The Florida Bar v. Pahules*, 233 So.2d 130, 132 (Fla.1970).

Additionally, this Court has held that in reviewing a referee's recommendations for discipline, the scope of review is broader than that afforded to findings of fact because it is the Supreme Court's responsibility to order the appropriate punishment. *The Florida Bar v. Niles*, 644 So. 2d 504, 506-07 (Fla. 1994), *The Florida Bar v. Anderson*, 538 So.

2d 852, 854 (Fla.1989). However, a referee's recommendation on discipline is afforded a presumption of correctness unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence. *See, The Florida Bar v. Lipman*, 497 So. 2d 1165, 1168 (Fla.1986); *The Florida Bar v. Poplack*, 599 So.2d 116 (Fla.1992).

In this case, Respondent contends that the referee's reliance on *The Florida Bar v. Farbstein*, 570 So. 2d 93(Fla. 1990), *The Florida Bar v. Schiller*, 537 So. 2d 992 (Fla. 1992), *The Florida Bar v. Kassier*, 711 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 1998), and *The Florida Bar v. Tunsil*, 503 So. 2d 1230(Fla. 1986) was misplaced because these cases all dealt with misappropriation of client funds from trust accounts and that did not occur in this case. Based on this argument, it is not clear if Respondent is arguing that the distinction is that in this case no misappropriation occurred or that misappropriation did occur but that it was from Respondent's operating account.

In any event, however, Respondent's hyper-technical argument misses the point entirely. If Respondent is arguing that the misappropriation in this case was from Respondent's operating account and thus the cited cases are distinguishable, the fact remains that Respondent misappropriated the Munim's filing fee. What account the money was deposited into is irrelevant. Indeed, the very fact that Respondent deposited the money into her operating account

is itself a violation of the rules.

If Respondent is arguing that no misappropriation occurred in the first place, then that argument is not wellgrounded in fact as the referee specifically found that on "January 13, 2000, the balance in Respondent's operating account was an overdraft of \$101.25, or \$1766.25 short to cover her obligation for the Munims." (ROR at 4, \P 6). Therefore, to the extent that Respondent argues that the referee did not find misappropriation, her argument is inconsistent with the court's findings of fact.

Thus, without question, while the four cited cases do deal with misappropriation from trust accounts, the issue is still misappropriation! In the case at bar, Respondent, for whatever reason, deposited the Munim's filing fees in her operating account and then used that money to satisfy personal obligations entirely unrelated to the Munim's case. Thus, ineluctably, the misappropriation occurred regardless of whether Respondent was nefariously or negligently motivated.

Moreover, the referee noted that the four cited cases imposed between one- and three-year suspensions based on misappropriation and diligence issues. Therefore, because the referee recommended a two-year suspension in this matter, the recommendation falls squarely in the middle of the range provided for in the existing case law.

Additionally, the referee specifically found that Respondent's reliance on *The Florida Bar v. Cramer*, 643 So. 2d 1069(Fla. 1994) and *The Florida Bar v. Moran*, 273 So. 2d 379(Fla. 1973) was inapposite "because factually they seemed much less egregious." (ROR at 13). Even the most cursory review of those cases shows that to be the case.

As for the referee's reliance on the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline, the court specifically found that 9.2(c)(pattern of misconduct) and 9.22(d)(multiple offenses) applied. (ROR at 13-14). The referee also found that several mitigating factors applied -- 9.32(b)(absence of dishonest or selfish motive), 9.32(g)(good character and reputation); 9.32(h)(physical/mental disability or impairment); 9.32(i)(interim rehabilitation), and 9.32(l)(remorse). Thus the court clearly considered the various applicable standards urged by the parties, rejecting some and relying on others.

In reaching her determination, the referee noted that

[t]hroughout these proceedings Ms. Smith exhibited a pattern of excuse-making and blameshifting that does not assure me that these types of transgressions will not occur again without specific training and supervision. Further, the evidence regarding her illness does not become compelling until her collapse in March, 2000, well after the subject of the Munim's complaint began. Given the foregoing, the referee concluded by finding that

[b]alancing all of this, I believe Jeannette Smith does possess the intellect and commitment to properly serve the public as an attorney. Her pro bono "style" is commendable and has had great weight in this recommendation. **However, her breaches of conduct have been serious, and have had serious consequences to her clients, both in financial terms and in terms of needless anxiety**. (Emphasis added).

Thus it is clear that the referee considered all of the evidence and weighed that evidence carefully in light of the guidance provided by both the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline and the existing case law. Respondent's argument to the contrary is simply not grounded in the law or the facts of this case.

The fact that the referee chose to rely on case law that was more adverse to the Respondent than her own proffered cases is not tantamount to a finding that the referee's recommendation as to discipline does not have any reasonable basis. Clearly, the referee heard the evidence, evaluated the testimony, and made a decision on the case law and standards that she found to be most applicable to the facts at bar. Respondent has utterly failed to meet her burden in showing otherwise. In this case, the referee's recommendation as to discipline is neither clearly erroneous nor unsupported by the evidence.

II. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION OF GUILT ARE NEITHER ERRONEOUS NOR LACKING IN EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT.

A referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. *See, Florida Bar v. Vining*, 761 So. 2d 1044, 1047 (Fla. 2000); *Florida Bar v. MacMillan*, 600 So. 2d 457, 459 (Fla.1992); *Florida Bar v. Vannier*, 498 So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986).

If the referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee. *See, MacMillan*, 600 So. 2d at 459. The party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions. *See, Florida Bar v. Miele*, 605 So. 2d 866, 868 (Fla.1992).

Additionally, a party does not satisfy his or her burden of showing that a referee's findings are clearly erroneous by simply pointing to the contradictory evidence where there is also competent, substantial evidence in the record that supports the referee's findings. *See, Florida Bar v. Schultz,* 712 So. 2d 386, 388 (Fla.1998); *Florida Bar v. de la Puente,* 658 So. 2d 65, 68 (Fla.1995).

In the instant case, Respondent first argues that "[t]his case is about client neglect resulting from Smith's illness, it is not about misappropriation of client trust funds." However, as previously noted, the referee specifically found that on "January 13, 2000, the balance in Respondent's operating account was an overdraft of \$101.25, or \$1766.25 short to cover her obligation for the Munims." (ROR at 4, \P 6). Therefore, to the extent that Respondent argues that the referee did not find misappropriation, her argument is inconsistent with the court's findings of fact.

Respondent's next flawed argument is that the "Referee's findings however do not take into consideration Respondent's illness, or the fact that her conduct was the direct result of her medical condition." However, once again, Respondent's argument is not well-grounded in the facts of this case as the referee did make specific findings as to Respondent's medical condition -- first, in the findings of fact (*see*, ROR at 6, ¶ 16), and then in mitigation (9.32(h)(physical/mental disability or impairment). Thus it cannot be fairly said that the referee failed to take Respondent's medical condition into consideration. In fact, as the referee noted

[t]hroughout these proceedings Ms. Smith exhibited a pattern of excuse-making and blameshifting that does not assure me that these types of transgressions will not occur again without specific training and supervision. Further, the evidence regarding her illness does not become compelling until her collapse in March, 2000, well after the subject of the Munim's

complaint began.

For her next argument, Respondent contends that the discipline recommended is this case is too severe. However, this argument is of the same tenor as in the previous section related to discipline and does not belong in this section dealing with Respondent's contention that the Referee's findings and recommendation of guilt were clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. Nevertheless, in response, as previously noted, it is not enough for Respondent to merely point to other case law that inures to her benefit if the recommended discipline has a reasonable basis in the exiting case law and standards.

Respondent then argues that the referee found Respondent guilty of having violated 4-8.4(c) as to all three counts. However, that is not correct. The referee only found that violation as to Counts I and III. Nevertheless, Respondent supports this argument by claiming that the found violation cannot stand because the referee found that Respondent had not acted with nefarious intent and that her conduct was the result of extraordinary sloppiness and culpable negligence and thus there was no clear and convincing evidence of the violation.

However, what is abundantly clear is that the referee specifically found that on "January 13, 2000, the balance

in Respondent's operating account was an overdraft of \$101.25, or \$1766.25 short to cover her obligation for the Munims." (ROR at 4, ¶ 6). Thus, when Respondent deposited the Munim's check in her operating account, she defrauded them as that money could only have been deposited into her trust account and held in trust to pay their filing fees. Moreover, the referee found that "Ms. Smith did submit copies of checks she wrote, however, on January 13, 2000 to INS for the various filing fees." (ROR at 4, ¶ 8). But there was no money in the account at that point. Such conduct constitutes both fraud and deception. Additionally, the referee found that "on August 10, 2000, Ms. Smith issued a check for \$100.00 to satisfy a bill from her answering service. This check was returned for insufficient funds twice." (ROR at 8, \P 24). Based on this finding, the referee found a violation of 4-8.4(c) because the only logical inference is that writing a check from an account that one knows or should know has no money in it is both fraudulent and deceptive. Thus the referee's finding of a violation of 4-8.4(c) is amply supported by the evidence presented and found by the court. As this Court noted in The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 599 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 1992)

> [w]e find it troubling when a member of the Bar is guilty of misrepresentation or dishonesty, both of which are synonymous for lying. Honesty and candor in dealing with others is part of the foundation upon which respect for the profession is based. The theme of honest dealing and truthfulness runs throughout the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and The

Florida Bar's Ideals and Goals of Professionalism. *See* Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-3.3 (candor toward the tribunal), 4- 3.4 (fairness of opposing party and counsel), 4-4.1 (truthfulness in statements to others), 4-8.4 (lawyer misconduct), and *Ideals and Goals of Professionalism*, Fla.B.J., Sept. 1991, at 138 (a lawyer's word should be his or her bond).

In the case at bar, Respondent failed on many occasions to be honest and candid in dealing with others.

Respondent's fifth argument is that the referee's reliance on the aggravating factors was inappropriate because there was no evidence to support those findings. Although this argument is, again, a restatement of Respondent's previous section dealing with the recommended discipline allegedly not being supported by the case law or standards, the reality is that the referee did make a specific finding as to these aggravating factors:

[t]his [the aggravating factors] is evidenced by the fact that three separate individuals made complaints to the Bar, and that within their complaints there is some duplication of issues. (Count I and Count II with a lack of diligence primarily, while Counts I and III deal with financial issues.)

Thus, the referee considered the evidence and made appropriate findings based on that evidence.

For her sixth argument, Respondent contends that the referee erred in ordering restitution to the Munims in the amount of \$2,997 because "the issues as framed by the pleadings did not encompass restitution." However, Mr. Munim

testified that he had incurred additional expenses as a result of Respondent's failure to appropriately file his paperwork and he provided a break-down of the costs. The referee considered this testimony and found that restitution was indeed appropriate given the facts and circumstances at bar. There is no paucity of evidence to support this recommendation. However, The Florida Bar does concede that the amount of the restitution that Respondent was ordered to pay should reflect that she has already refunded the Munim's \$1665 filing fee.

For her final argument, Respondent argues that the recommended discipline in this case "serves no legitimate purpose." While it is impossible to understand how this argument belongs in this section dealing with the alleged clearly erroneous/lack of evidentiary support to support the referee's findings and recommendation of guilt, the response has already been provided above in the preceding sections-- the referee's findings of facts and recommended discipline are clearly supported by the record, the evidence adduced at trial, the existing case law, and the standards for imposing lawyer discipline. Respondent's appeal to this Court's emotions is not sufficient to carry her burden in overturning the report of referee in this matter.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, The Florida Bar respectfully submits that the Report of Referee should be approved and Respondent be suspended for two years followed by two years of probation during which time Respondent must obtain the services of LOMAS, have her accounts audited quarterly, certify quarterly her good health to practice as documented by her physician, obtain a mentor to monitor her caseload and disposition of cases quarterly, and finally pay restitution to the Munim's in the amount of \$1332.

> CARLOS ALBERTO LEÓN, Bar Counsel TFB No. 0098027 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 Tel: (305) 377-4445

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